Master Thesis

Predictors for effective communication between managers and employees during CSR activity implementation.



UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.

Written by: Ties ten holt Institution: University of Twente Study: Master of Business Administration Supervisor: D. van Dun Date: 29-01-2023 Place: Hengelo (O)

Abstract

Over the past years, more and more attention is given to the human influence on climate change, sustainability, and social inequality. These factors have stimulated the upswing of Corporate Social Responsibility. Many studies have confirmed the importance of communication during CSR activity implementation within organisations. But how can organisations effectively communicate CSR change within the organisations? The aim of this study is to explore the predictors for effective communication between managers and employees during CSR activity implementation. Following an abductive approach, we answered the research question conducting semi-structured interviews with managers and employees. These interviews were analysed and structured using Gioia's method. 'Organisational culture', 'Responsibility', 'Trust' and 'Motivation' were found as predictors for effective communication between managers and employees an extension of the original Change Communication model of Husain (2013). Second, we insinuate that the motive to conduct CSR for a manager has influence on the used communication strategy towards employees.

Keywords: Corporate Social Responsibility, communication, change communication model, B Corporation

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
1. Introduction	5
2. Theory	7
2.1 Corporate Social Responsibility	7
2.2 Effective communication during change	8
2.2.1 Leadership and effective communication	10
2.2.2 Employees' response to change	12
3. Methods	13
3.1 Research design	13
3.2 Research instruments	13
3.3 Data collection	14
3.4 Data analysis	16
4. Results	18
4.1 Organisational culture	19
4.1.1 Atmosphere	20
4.1.3 Informal structure	20
4.1.3 Impact mission	21
4.1.4 Transparency	22
4.2 Responsibility	23
4.2.1 Accountability	23
4.2.2 Give responsibility to employees	24
4.2.3 Shared ownership	24
4.3 Trust	25
4.3.1 Sincerity	25
4.3.2 Honesty	26
4.3.3 Leading by example	27
4.3.4 Equality	28
4.4 Motivation	28
4.4.1 Helping the world	29
4.4.2 Business opportunity	29
4.4.3 Personal values	30
5. Conclusion and discussion	30
5.1 Theoretical implications	31
5.2 Practical implications	33
5.3 Limitations & future research	34

5.4 Conclusion	
Bibliography	
Appendix	40
Appendix I	40

1. Introduction

Over the last decades, many studies have focused on the implementation of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and employee-CSR relations (Onkila & Sarna, 2021). The concept of CSR has attracted worldwide attention and many governments have assumed responsibility for improving the population's living conditions. Furthermore, society has grown in social consciousness, social responsibility, and greater awareness of human rights (Jamali & Mirshak, 2007). There is a growing recognition that organisations worldwide play a substantial role in society's overall health and functioning (Asif et al., 2013). CSR can even positively impact organisations' financial results, as these organisations pursue their predetermined CSR objectives (Wang & Sarkis, 2017). Furthermore, according to Skare and Golja (2014), Corporate Social Responsibility firms are important for economic growth. Recently, CSR received a new boost with the emergence of B Corp. The B Corp certification is a designation that an organisation is meeting high standards of verified performance, accountability, and transparency on factors from employee benefits and charitable giving to supply chain practices and input materials. These reasons contribute to the fact that the popularity of CSR in academia and practice has grown substantially over the last few years.

In literature, many definitions are used for CSR. Although most available definitions apply different phrases, they are mostly congruent. This makes the lack of one universally accepted definition less problematic than it might seem at first sight (Dahlsrud, 2008). To avoid ambiguity and confusion, a clear definition of CSR is formulated according to the Commission of the European Communities (2001): "CSR is the concept that a business or organization is responsible for its impact on all relevant stakeholders. It is the continuing commitment by organisations to behave responsibly and contribute to economic development while improving the quality of life of the workforce and their families as well as of the local community and society at large" (Dahlsrud, 2008, p.7).

Communicating CSR activities is an important element for organisations since they want to provoke positive public relations outcomes such as legitimacy and reputational capital (Dhanesh, 2014). One of the approaches for an organisation to examine CSR and its communication with its stakeholders is the functionalistic approach. With this approach organisations actively engage and communicate their socially, environmentally, ethically and economically responsible policies and actions.

5

However, most of the conducted research about CSR communication focused on external stakeholders (Wigley, 2008), yet employees have been identified as an important internal stakeholder group with respect to CSR, as they could become highly engaged advocates and ambassadors of a responsible organisation (Dhanesh, 2014). Employee engagement is pivotal to organisational success and generates multiple benefits such as increased productivity, decreased attrition and increased internal reputation (Albrecht et al., 2015).

Therefore, it is of importance that whilst implementing CSR activities within the organisation, employees are involved and engaged in the implementation process. One of the key drivers of employee engagement includes the (internal) communication between managers and employees during this CSR activity implementation process (Jiang & Men, 2017). Thus, leadership and employees' response to change play an important role in order to create a better understanding of the communication between managers and employees during CSR activity implementation. Furthermore, the article of Gibson et al (2020) discussed that CSR in general is undertheorized and acknowledged the need for new theoretical development for dominant issues in the CSR field. Furthermore, theories related to signalling and communications and the effects of these on stakeholder perceptions and actions are one of the recommendations for theoretical advancement in this area (Gibson et al., 2020). Thus, based on the lack of studies into the interactions and communication during CSR change within organisations, there is a gap in our understanding of what predicts effective communication between managers and employees during CSR change.

But what makes communication during CSR change different from other organisational change communication? According to Osagie et al. (2016), it is the normative nature of CSR that separates it from other organisational changes. CSR involves a more normative change, which also includes people's personal values but especially balancing personal ethical values and business objectives (Osagie et al., 2016). Whereas for example, an organisational structure change is more business-like and contains a more commercial aspect. CSR is more about how your, or the organisations', behaviour affects society and the environment. Thus, the communication required to effectively implement such a CSR change may be more normative in nature than other organisational changes.

Therefore, this research focuses on the predictors (amplifiers or variables that promote the communications) for effective communications between managers and employees for CSR activity implementation. The following research question is formulated:

"What are predictors for effective communication between managers and their employees during CSR activity implementation?"

By addressing this research question, this thesis contributes to the current literature in multiple ways. First of all, the article of Gibson et al. (2020) highlightes the necessity for further theoretical exploration for key CSR-related concerns. One suggestion for theoretical development in this field is the use of theories about communication and the impact of these on employees' perceptions and behaviour.

Furthermore, Jiang and Men (2016) state that a more comprehensive understanding of how leadership and communication drive employee engagement. The insights of this research contribute to this by clarifying predictors for effective communication between managers and employees.

Besides the theoretical contributions, this research also has practical contributions. Managers can benefit from the results of this research by making use of, and preparing themselves for, the predictors that support effective communication between them, and their employees. Ultimately, this can increase effectiveness when managers want to implement CSR activities in the organisation.

2. Theory

2.1 Corporate Social Responsibility

Many customers nowadays expect goods and services that are environmentally friendly (Laroche et al., 2001). Many organisations worldwide face pressure to express themselves about social and environmental problems from all different kinds of stakeholders, e.g. customers, employees, and governments (Pekovic & Vogt, 2021). Furthermore, an obvious driver of corporate interest in CSR is the belief that implementing CSR activities is good for business (Lindgreen et al., 2009; Kotler and Lee, 2005). According to Hernandez et al. (2020), who conducted research focusing on CSR and the economic performance of small, medium,

and large organizations, there indeed is evidence that CSR significantly improves the economic performance of organisations. Implementing non-economic factors in the organisation can create a competitive advantage as well. It can lead to differentiation from its competitors and can contribute to the process of building a better reputation and image (Fombrun & Shanley, 1990). Lastly, CSR activities are adopted because of growing evidence that customers are willing to give incentives to socially responsible organisations. The most obvious example that costumers are more willing to give incentives to socially responsible organisations is that some customers are willing to pay higher prices for products made by ethical organisations (Creyer & Ross, 1997). However there is some uncertainty in research the question of when and which business activities should count as responsible CSR practices. The following CSR definition should clear up any confusion. Generally: "CSR represents the continuing commitment by organizations to behave responsibly and contribute to economic development while improving the quality of life of the workforce and their families as well as the local community and society at large" (Dahlsrud, 2008, p.7;). Examples of CSR activities could be if an organisation decides to become more energy efficient, or decides to produce their products in a more sustainable way, or donate to medical research. In order to determine whether organisations actually exercise CSR practices, there are multiple measurement methods. One method which is used in many previous studies is the "Tripple Bottom Line" method (Elkington, 2018). This model exists out of an economic, social, and environmental dimension. The economic dimension is the way in which firms attempt to anticipate towards issues such as product quality, product safety, and customer satisfaction that could occur in their interactions with the stakeholders (Torugsa et al., 2013). The social dimension refers to conducting fair business practices for the labour, human capital, and community (Alhaddi, 2015; Elkington, 1997). Lastly, the environmental dimension refers to the innovation, pollution prevention, and environmental leadership of an organization (Buysse & Verbeke, 2003).

2.2 Effective communication during change

The uncertainty associated with the process and outcomes of change is one of the most difficult aspects of the organisational change experience for employees (DiFonzo & Bordia, 1998). The ambiguity about how the change will affect their job, or even if they will have a job in the restructured organisation can be highly stressful for employees (Bordia et al., 2004). While managers frequently strive to address this uncertainty through communications with

the employees, it often falls short of expectations (Bordia et al., 2004). Communication is vital to the effective implementation of organisational change. Communication breakdown is an important reason for many change efforts to fail (Schulz-Knappe et al., 2019) The uncertainty and thus, stress may lead to low morale and job satisfaction and valued employees may choose to leave the organisation (Bernhagen et al., 1996). A study conducted by Schweiger and Denisi (1991) showes that contemporary and honest communication towards employees during change processes reduces uncertainty among employees and increases employees' job satisfaction and commitment.

However, since this research focuses specifically on effective communication, we must determine what criteria effective communication must meet in order to actually qualify as 'effective'. Barrett (2002), states that communication must first be meaningful. Therefore, it should accomplish two primary objectives. First, it should update and instruct employees at all levels in the company's strategy. Second, employees should be encouraged and placed to support the strategy and performance objectives. If the communication succeeds in achieving both of these goals, it is "meaningful," or it helps the business be successful financially and be high-performing. Barret subsequently broke this definition down more specifically into five primary goals for effective employee communication during major change. Firstly, change communication must ensure clear and consistent messages to educate employees in the company vision, strategic goals, and what the change means to them. Furthermore, effective communication should motivate employee support for the company's new direction. Besides, effective communication should encourage higher performance and discretionary effort. In addition, effective communication should limit misunderstandings and rumours that may damage productivity. Lastly, effective communication should align employees behind the company's strategic and overall performance improvement goals (Barrett, 2002).

In addition, Husain (2013) developed the Change Communication Model (see figure 1) that focuses on variables that influence the effectiveness of communication. This model shows the impact of multiple variables on communication. The level of community spirit, tackling queries, trust, motivation, commitment, job security, certainty, feedback and participation are variables that influence the communication between managers and employees. When these variables are increased, the commitment to change from employees rises which leads to a higher chance of succeeding in the organisational change (Husain, 2013).

9



Figure 1: Change Communication Model (Husain, 2013, p.6)

Effective communication is teamwork that takes place between leader and employees. Therefore, both perspectives have now been highlighted in conjunction with effective communication.

2.2.1 Leadership and effective communication

Gill (2002) suggests leadership as a major determinant of successful change since it develops vision, strategy, culture for change, and encourages employees to commit change. This is also concluded by Hansma and Elving (2008), who found that by using communication, leaders were able to generate readiness to contribute to change in employees. Different types of leadership advocate different communication styles to influence employees (Whitworth, 2011). For instance, transactional leadership involves a social exchange between leader and employee in order to clarify what the employee needs to fulfil in order to accomplish their work task (Bass & Avolio, 2004). Transactional leaders may only approach and communicate towards employees when problems or mistakes occur, that is by avoiding any intervention until something has gone wrong (Brymer & Gray, 2006). Transactional leaders use a management-by-exception principle that allows them to gather behavioural information to prevent employees from deviating from a certain agreed objective (Bass, 1997). Klimoski and Hayes (1980), discovered that this style of leadership can positively affect job performance

and employee satisfaction as long as both leader and employee are satisfied with the arrangement. On the other hand, transformational leaders convey a strong sense of purpose and collective mission. They inspire employees by communicating inspirational vision and high performance expectations (Men, 2014). Genuinely caring about their employees' wellbeing, creating a trusting environment, encourage individual development, and building employees' confidence are all characteristics of transformational leaders (Men, 2014). Furthermore, the communication behaviours of transformational leaders are characterised by interaction, caring, inspiration and empowerment (Jin, 2010). Because of these communication behaviours and characteristics, multiple studies identified transformational leadership as best leadership style for change projects in organisations. For instance, according to Herold et al (2007), transformational leadership is, together with sufficient change management practices, associated with a higher level of change management. Furthermore, according to Holten and Brenner (2015), there is evidence of a relationship between transformational leadership and the long-term positive attitude of employees towards change. However, there also have been studies that investigated which leadership style is specifically suited for CSR or green activities or changes within organisations. Multiple studies have confirmed that green transformational leadership is best suited for CSR changes within organisations (Chen et al., 2014; Kura, 2016; Robertson & Barling, 2013; Singh et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2018). Chen and Chang (2013, p.109) define green transformational leadership as "behaviours of leaders who motivate followers to achieve environmental goals and inspire followers to perform beyond expected levels of environmental performance". Antonakis and House (2004) extended the full-range leadership model by adding "instrumental leadership". Instrumental leadership represents the strategic and follower work-facilitation functions that are essential for sustainable organisational and follower performance. This type of leadership is not based on emotional appeals or ideals as in transformational leadership, nor on quid pro quo approaches as in transactional leadership. This type of leadership is authentic in a way that it is vital for sustainable organisational performance and actually helps foster the transformational effect. Many studies show that effective leaders are always effective communicators (Clutterbuck & Hirst, 2002). Now that we have looked at different leadership styles and communication styles, it is evenly important to highlight the other perspective: that of the employees. Therefore, the next section focuses on employees' response to change.

2.2.2 Employees' response to change

According to Oreg et al. (2018), there are four behavioural employee responses to change. The first behavioural response is change acceptance and this is characterised by a calm, relaxed and content emotional reaction of the employee. The employee may be passively supportive and show behaviours such as unobtrusive compliance and listening attentively. Employee acceptance of organisational change has been linked with a smooth implementation of change (Terry et al., 1996; Holt et al., 2007; Logan & Ganster, 2007). Therefore this response is often viewed positively by managers. But there might also be a downside to change acceptance as a behavioural response to change. Namely, that is it not likely to produce constructive feedback for managers to improve the ongoing change (March, 1991). So this type of behavioural response might result in a smooth implementation of the change, but may still fail due to the lack of feedback the managers receive (Oreg et al., 2018). Change disengagement is another employee's behaviour response to change. This response is linked with negative outcomes such as lower engagement in change efforts and cynicism (Reichers et al., 1997; Stanley et al., 2005). However, because the negative attitude of the employee may not be overt towards the manager, the manager could interpret his or her behaviour as change acceptance while it actually is change disengagement. In conclusion, this type of behavioural response might not result in a smooth implementation regarding possible foot-dragging, but in comparison with the other responses to change, setbacks in implementation would likely be limited (Oreg et al., 2018). Furthermore, change resistance is a possible response to change. Angriness, discomfort or irritation among employees are emotions that connect to this response (Oreg et al., 2018). It can even lower organisational performance (Koys, 2001; Ton & Huckman, 2008). Change resistance is therefore the most disadvantageous behaviour employees can demonstrate to both the organisation and its members (Oreg et al., 2018). However, change resistance also has benefits. Such as employees are more likely to share and express their negative feeling about the change which might benefit the planning stage of the change trajectory. So the employees might give valuable feedback to their managers (Oreg et al., 2018). Lastly, change proactivity is one of the behaviours towards change. Employees who behave like this are very useful to promote successful change which may foster collaboration between managers and employees. Therefore, change proactivity can be very valuable in the planning stage of the change and has proved to be beneficial for implementing new ideas in organisations (Dutton et al., 2001).

3. Methods

This research took an abductive research approach. In abductive reasoning, the goal is to discover plausible explanations, instead of validating a generalizable rule or generating a probable generalizable rule (Bamberger, 2018). The abductive approach is chosen since it is an excellent way to begin with a real-world problem, draw from already-existing theories and modify them in order to describe the situation, leading to a contribution to theory (Mathieu, 2016). In this study, that is exactly what is done. By beginning with what we already knew about communication between managers and employees during organisational change and extending that knowledge in the specific context of CSR. In the following sections, the research design, research instruments, data collection and data analysis are discussed.

3.1 Research design

This research aims to explore predictors for effective communication between managers and employees during CSR activity implementation. Since there is little literature about these predictors, qualitative research is chosen to better understand and create new insights into this phenomenon (Saunders et al., 2007). Furthermore, since I was interested in answering a "what/why" question, a qualitative research approach enabled me to interpret the subjects' qualitative stories and acquire in-depth and detailed descriptions of the values and beliefs guiding their behaviours (Bamberger, 2018). Due to these reasons, it was determined that a qualitative approach would be the most effective to address the research question and the overall aims of this research.

3.2 Research instruments

This research used semi-structured interviews as a data collection tool in order to explore predictors for effective communication between managers and employees during CSR activity implementation. Semi-structured interviews were used because this data collection tool gives enough room for the interviewees to tell their stories and experiences, but it also still allows the interviewer to ask follow-up questions, both spontaneously and according to the predetermined interview protocol (Miles & Huberman, 1994). This could stimulate the interviewees to speak their minds and give the researcher insights into their thoughts. Thus, the aim was really to discover and explore instead of just checking (Denscombe, 2010).

3.3 Data collection

The interviewees were selected based on several factors. First of all, all interviews were conducted with managers with leadership roles and who were responsible for implementing CSR in their organisations. All employees that were interviewed were subordinates of the managers that got interviewed. The managers brought me in contact with the employees. This obviously got consequences for biases since the managers had the option which employee would participate in the interviews. Managers could have only let employees participate who were most likely to be positive about the manager, B Corp, sustainability in general, or other subjects.

The data was collected by interviewing 10 managers and 7 employees of 10 different B-corp organisations. The reliability of the research is additionally impacted by the fact that I was unable to interview at least one employee for each manager. The B Corp certification is a designation that an organisation is meeting high standards of verified performance, accountability, and transparency on factors from employee benefits and charitable giving to supply chain practices and input materials¹. This certificate was founded in 2007 by the nonprofit organisation B-Lab. In the meantime, over 5.000 companies in 80 different countries are B Corp certified². In order to achieve certification, an organisation must demonstrate high social and environmental performance measured by the "B Impact Assessment", earning at least 80 points out of 200 in four areas (governance, workers, community and environment) (Pollack et al., 2021). Furthermore, the organisation should make a legal commitment by changing its corporate governance structure to be accountable to all stakeholders, and achieve benefit corporation status if available in their jurisdiction. Lastly, the organisation should exhibit transparency by allowing info about their performance measured against B Lab's standards to be publicly available on their B Corp profile and website. The organisations were found via the website of B Lab which included a list of all B Corp certified companies. I then approached the companies directly through their websites by asking who their "B Corp leader" was, and by explaining the research and the necessity for B Corp interviews. Via E-mail a total of 58 organisations and B Corp leaders were contacted from which 10 eventually accepted the offer to conduct an interview. Additionally, seven managers agreed to let

¹ https://www.bcorporation.net/en-us/news/press/b-lab-announces-2022-best-world-b-corps

² https://www.bcorporation.net/en-us/news/press/b-lab-announces-2022-best-world-b-corps

employees take part in the research. Holidays and work commitments were the main reasons many organisations declined the interviews.

A total of 17 interviews were conducted between July 2022 and September 2022. Afterwards, the interviews were transcribed. To avoid certain interview biases, I researched existing literature on interview bias and how to reduce it. In this way, I was at least aware of the many forms of interview bias. In the article by Pannucci and Wilkins (2010) interview bias is to reduce by standardizing the interaction between the interviewer and participants and to blind the interviewer to exposure status. Furthermore, I tried to reduce response bias. Response bias is a phenomenon where interviewees might not be completely open and honest while answering the questions of the interview (Saunders et al., 2009). Adams and Cox (2008) indicated that by explaining that the interviews are anonymous and statements made in the interview cannot be traced back to a specific person helps to reduce response bias. In Table 1, information about the interviews is shown. The interview protocol consisted of open-ended questions and there were two different interview protocols (see Appendix I) since we wanted different information from the employees than from the managers. The interviews lasted about 45 minutes to one hour and were recorded and transcribed, with anonymised identity and personal information. Ethical approval to conduct the research was obtained from the Ethics committee of the University of Twente in July 2022. An example of a question from the interviews was: 'How did you keep the employees involved in the process?' (Appendix I).

Number	Name	Age	Role	Number of employees at the organisation	Type of organisation
1	"Sophie"	<35	Manager	<15	Creative design
2	"Chris"	<35	Manager	1200-1300	Facility
3	"Abby"	40-50	Manager	20-40	Consultancy
4	"Jeffrey"	50+	Manager	50-75	Creative agency
5	"Anne"	<35	Manager	<15	Meeting room location
6	"Greg"	<35	Manager	<15	Non-profit

7	"Rachel"	40-50	Manager	100-120	Healthcare
8	"Steven"	<35	Manager	+-20	Communication
					consultancy
9	"Lois"	40-50	Manager	100-120	Healthcare
10	"Tom"	50+	Owner	+-100	Investing
					company
11	"Laeticia"	<35	Employee	<15	Creative design
12	"Madison"	<35	Employee	50-75	Creative agency
13	"Mason"	40-50	Employee	100-120	Healthcare
14	"Ross"	<35	Employee	+-20	Communication
					consultancy
15	"Harry"	<35	Employee	1200-1300	Facility
16	"Lisa"	40-50	Employee	20-40	Consultancy
17	"Phil"	<35	Employee	100-120	Healthcare

Table 1: Information about the participants

3.4 Data analysis

The interviews were coded to explore predictors for effective communication between manager and employees during CSR activity implementation. Gioia's method (2013) has been used to organise the data in a structured manner. This method was used because the steps are systematic and well-defined. Gioia's method exists of coding the transcriptions of the interviews into 1st order concepts, 2nd order themes and aggregate dimensions (Gioia et al., 2013). In order to guarantee research reliability and validity, the questions and protocol that is asked and used during the interviews was standardised. To increase reliability, all interviews were listened to and read multiple times to correct mistakes in the transcriptions. Furthermore, to decrease bias, all questions were asked in the same order. The interviews were coded with help of the programme Atlas.ti. This programme helps to uncover complex phenomena. It was important to ensure that the coding process was executed correctly and that the data was interpreted correctly. Therefore, I researched relevant articles about Atlas.ti such as the article by Hwang (2008) and the article by Smit and Scherman (2021). Although I was aware of the literature about communication, employees' response to change, and CSR,

I continuously tried not to search for specific codes that might be related to these constructs in order to avoid confirmation bias (Gioia et al., 2013).

During the coding process, all relevant quotes were highlighted and first-order codes were given to them. The coding process itself was iterative since this ensured that all codes were relevant and accurately captured the stories and experiences of the interviewees. When specific codes were found to be irrelevant, they were removed or modified. Thereafter the first-order codes were compared to each other to form second-order themes, third-order themes, and fourth-order themes. Although the coding process was done by myself, I discussed the coding steps and other steps in the process multiple times with another researcher to reduce the chance of making mistakes and to discover new valuable insights.

4. Results

Four predictors for effective communication between managers and employees during B Corp implementation emerged from the data analysis. In figure 2, the data structure can be seen. In the paragraphs below, both the first and second-order themes and the aggregate dimensions are in-depth described to clarify the data.





Figure 2: Data structure

4.1 Organisational culture

The first aggregate dimension that arises from the interviews is the organisational culture. It derived from the interviews that the culture prevailing within an organisation determines whether employees feel encouraged to collaborate with the B Corp plans of the management or not. This aggregate dimension can be divided into four second-order themes; 'Atmosphere' indicates how the employees interact with each other on a day-to-day basis. 'Informal structure' is about the set of relationships, processes, information, and decisions that take place beyond the organisational structure of the formal organisation. 'Impact-mission', which entails whether the organisation is born with the ambition to make an impact on the world or whether it was created to make money in the first place. Lastly, 'Transparency' includes whether the organisation has an open and honest culture or if the culture overall is more distant and closed.

4.1.1 Atmosphere

Regarding the theme 'Atmosphere', the following quotes from Laeticia and Ross go into more detail and explain how this second-order theme affects communication with their managers during the B Corp process:

"Our company really feels like a family! We see each other often outside of the working environment and we really are a small and close group. I realise that's something that isn't completely 'healthy' either maybe. But in terms of communicating with each other, it helps a lot! You already have that bond or connection."

"I think the atmosphere is very friendly, very relaxed and also included. That's exactly how it should be in my opinion. Because it stimulates being open to each other."

Yet also the managers emphasise the importance of a good atmosphere. Managers believe they are more aware of what is happening with the employees. For instance Anne stated the following:

"Because there is a pleasant atmosphere within the group, consultation and consideration within the group are also a lot more possible and accessible. If there is already tension within the group, than obviously the communication will also be more difficult."

4.1.3 Informal structure

The following quotes by Mason and Harry provide an insight into the second theme 'Informal structure', and how employees experienced in what way it affects communication with their managers. For instance, Mason even heard of B Corp for the first time at the coffee machine:

"I actually first heard about B Corp at the coffee machine in a conversation with my manager. I never heard of it so the manager told me what it was and that we were becoming a B Corp. I told the manager that it sounds great but also told him/her if it was necessary for us because we already do so many things correctly as regard of sustainability, inclusion and our environment." "Even though we are a large organisation, I always feel like we are a close group. We talk about more than only business. It helps to build trust and it's easier to open up to your manager, or other colleagues if you also know things about them outside of work."

Also the managers stated that an informal structure benefits the communication during the B Corp process. The following quotes from managers Anne and Jeffrey elaborate on this secondorder theme. Anne states that the informal structure of the organisation he/she works for, benefits the communication as it speeds up the decision-making process:

"The company is organised flat with short communication lines. It ensures that we can act quickly if necessary. Of course, it also helps that we are not a large company. With B Corp, for instance, with only two meetings we had decided that we wanted to become a B Corp!"

"Because we have such a flat structure. It feels like we are all equals and I can hope that the employees feel that they can walk into my office at any time if there is something. That is the perfect 'formal structure' if you ask me because it's not formal at all!"

4.1.3 Impact mission

Furthermore, also the 'Impact mission' of the organisations was a theme that came up during the interviews. It emerged that when an organisation was born with the goal of making an impact on the world, employees were more willing to participate in achieving the B Corp certificate. The following quotes of managers Jeffrey and Tom elaborate on that:

"We have a slogan: "We make a profit but never at the cost of...". I think it describes our goal perfectly. And that's also the reason why we never received much resistance from the employees. Our goal is so pure that everybody thought it made perfect sense for us to become a B Corp."

"I think every employee and other manager at the company is purpose-driven. We want to do good for our world and only make money in a good way where there are no losses for anyone." Nevertheless, when an organisation is not born out of an impact mission, it was noticeable that employees often more resisted. The following quote from Abby will elaborate on that:

"Well, we also have a lot of employees who think: "I'm just doing my job, and I do not care very much about sustainability.". That's also possible of course since we were not born out of an impact mission. But that sometimes made the implementation a bit more difficult because these are also the employees who do not see the benefits in becoming a B Corp organisation in the first place. They do not see the added value of B Corp. And that resulted in resistance sometimes."

4.1.4 Transparency

Lastly, also 'Transparency' emerged from the interviews as a second-order theme. Employees and managers stated that they were more likely to communicate with each other if the company culture is transparent and open as opposed to when the culture is a bit more distant and closed. The following quotes from managers Steven and Chris elaborate on this:

"We really try to be as open as possible, for instance every employee can ask to see our financial results at all time. I think that if you can demonstrate this as a company it shows that you have nothing to hide towards the employees... at least, I hope they experience this the same way."

"We always tell our employees we have an open-door policy. What we mean by that is that it is always okay to walk into the office of your manager or boss to ask things. And these things can be anything. From 'How was your weekend' to job-related questions."

Employees also elaborated on the importance of a transparent culture of the organisation for effective communication. For instance, with the following quote from Madison:

"I do have the feeling that the management is transparent internally towards us. I am not 100% sure of course... but I feel like the management but also other employees are just open to each other. That, of course, contributes to, and creates an environment where good communication takes place more naturally."

4.2 Responsibility

The second predictor that emerged from the interviews is 'Responsibility'. It entails the feeling of being responsible for the implementation of B Corp into the organisation as a manager and giving responsibility to employees in the form of tasks, activities and other small chores. This third-order theme can be divided into three second-order themes. 'Accountability' entails that if managers feel that they are ultimately accountable, they are more inclined to correctly communicate implementation progress with both employees and their boss. 'Giving responsibilities to employees' implies that when managers divide the tasks of achieving the B Corp certificate among employees, employees feel more involved in the process and they are more open to communicate. This positively affects the communication during the B Corp process as well. Lastly, creating the feeling of 'Shared ownership' among the employees also improved communication during the B Corp process and ensures that it settles within the organisation.

4.2.1 Accountability

The following quotes by managers Tom and Abby explain how 'Accountability' predicts the communication during B Corp implementation:

"There was one person responsible in the end, in this case, it was me. The MT had a clearly agreed timeline, including a numerical target with an end date and everyone was aware of that. I planned weekly meetings with my employees and weekly meetings with the MT about the progress. Really feeling responsible ensured that I also continued to include the others in the process since I needed their help as well."

"My advice for other organisations is to really make sure one or two persons have ultimate accountability in the end so they can ensure that it settles within the organisation. They should take responsibility, divide tasks among other employees, let others think along, and listen to employees. That really is necessary in my opinion, otherwise, B Corp is something that quickly ends up on a side-track."

4.2.2 Give responsibility to employees

Managers also indicated that when they gave tasks and responsibilities to the employees, it really 'came more to life' within the organisation. Employees started sharing more ideas and talked to each other about B Corp. The following quotes from Chris and Steven confirm this:

"I also let employees actively vote on which problems to tackle first. So create involvement and let employees think for themselves about B Corp and what is most advisable to do. This approach worked really well for our company!"

"Firstly, everyone was informed through a presentation. Then everyone was made responsible for specific tasks within his or her department. This ensured that it 'came to life' within the organisation and it really remained a recurring thing because consultations and choices have to be made. So I think sharing responsibility while having one person with ultimate responsibility is a great approach."

Furthermore, manager Lois, who did not share a lot of responsibility with the employees, stated that he/she regretted it in the end:

"I should have given more tasks to the other employees instead of doing most things by myself or with the management alone. I think it could have been better... it could have ensured that we would have more involvement, which is lacking a bit now."

4.2.3 Shared ownership

Lastly, creating a feeling of shared ownership emerged from the interviews as a second-order theme that contributes to the 'Responsibility' predictor. The following quotes from Abby and Chris relate to this second-order theme:

"We really achieved this all together with my colleagues and I tried to involve them a lot during the process and let them take the initiative as well. And by creating project groups I really tried to create that shared ownership feeling among my employees. I think it turned out very well." "While implementing the actions of our roadmap to become a B Corp, we have tried to include and involve many colleagues. So I think in the end 60% of our colleagues at the office were involved in the implementation of B Corp. This also ensured that the communication you have lands better because employees know what's going on. We really all had our contribution."

4.3 Trust

The third predictor for effective communication between managers and employees that recurred during the interviews was 'Trust'. Looking at the perspective of the employee, the stories they exchanged demonstrate how trust makes the employees more receptive to new initiatives from the manager. Employees are more open to cooperating as they feel they can trust the manager. Just like the manager opens up faster when he/she feels that he/she can trust the employees. This third-order theme can be divided into four second-order themes. Namely; 'Sincerity' indicates whether employees believe that the manager actually has the best interests at heart and vice versa. 'Honesty' indicates whether the employees believe that the manager tells the whole story truthfully and that the employees also express themselves as they actually feel deep down. 'Leading-by-example', which indicates that the manager is modelling the behaviours himself just as he/she wants the employees feel that they are treated as equals during the implementation process, they are more open to cooperating with the manager.

4.3.1 Sincerity

Firstly, sincerity. The following quotes from employees Madison, Ross and Lisa indicate exactly that sincerity contributes to the feeling of trust for employees:

"The founders of this company already had that 'B Corp behaviour' if you know what I mean. So I think the management already had that kind of attitude and reliability. The company is born with the thought of contributing to better the world. It felt like they wanted to implement B Corp really to make our company better and to make an impact on the world and it motivates me as well." "The manager is, for as far as I know, already his/her whole life crazy about the environment. So it did not even cross my mind that he/she wanted to implement B Corp for business. You just know he/she is serious about the environment. It makes it easier because you just know he/she is definitely determined to achieve this certificate."

"Sincerity and straightforwardness are most important to me at all times. Not only in the case of implementing B Corp, but with all change processes. But particularly in the case of B Corp, it has to feel sincere and real. Not to get business out of it, but the real intrinsic motivation to obtain the certificate to contribute to a better world. I have that feeling very strongly about our director. He/she is definitely intrinsically motivated."

However, it is just equally important the other way around. When managers feel that the employees are straightforward and sincere, they stated that they are more likely to include them during the process. These two quotes from managers Jeffrey and Lois are in line with this:

"I think the implementation was made much easier because the people work here with the aim of contributing to a better world. So the employees only thought it was a logical step to become a B Corp."

"You'll discover that the employees who resisted the most, often in a one-on-one setting, are sometimes not sincere. That made the implementation a lot more challenging since there was, apparently, a lack of trust on both sides."

4.3.2 Honesty

Furthermore, during the interviews with the employees it emerged that honesty is an important aspect of the relationship of trust between employees and managers. As summarised by these two quotes of Mason and Phil:

"Reliability and honesty are the most important characteristics to me personally. If you suspect your manager of withholding information from you or your colleagues, how can you ever communicate openly and honestly with that person? I had that with a former employee... that is not a healthy relationship if you ask me!"

"Well, I think a manager should always be open and honest about the plans that await the employees. I think we should have been involved in the process sooner. I would like to have access to all info about B Corp but we did not get that. That would have helped in my opinion."

Looking at what emerged from the interviews with the managers about honesty, this also applies to the employees. However, the managers also recognise that they must be honest and open themselves. Jeffrey and Greg elaborated on this:

"When I tell my plans to one of my employees, I expect an honest thought back. Whether it is negative or positive. I think working on this type of relationship with your employees guarantees a solid foundation for working together."

"From the point where we communicated the plans to become a B Corp, we always told them the whole story. I was the B Corp leader, and even when I thought for a moment that we would not achieve enough points to get the certificate I told the other employees about that. From that point, they all helped me to look at how we could get more points, and eventually, that was a very important moment in the process where it really made the difference of becoming a B Corp or not."

4.3.3 Leading by example

Furthermore, one of the foundations to trust between managers and employees is leading by example. Many employees told that when they see that their managers show the desired behaviour, the employees are also more inclined to cooperate. But the managers also emphasised the value of leading by example and talked about their efforts to do so. The first two quotes are from employees Laeticia and Madison. The second two quotes are from managers Chris and Jeffrey:

"Well as I said earlier, he/she always has been very concerned with climate, the environment and charities. So he/she actually sets a good example herself every day, far before we even became a B Corp. That breeds credibility and people will follow if they see their boss giving the right example every day."

"It helps that I really believe our director is intrinsically motivated to help the world with our company. Our director shows that every day in so many ways."

"I was very enthusiastic to achieve this certificate from the very beginning because I already heard about B Corp before. I hope I also spread this enthusiasm a bit to the rest of the employees. I think it helps a lot if you are able to do so!"

"I took the initiative for this certificate... and everybody thought it made perfect sense and said that it suited me. We want to make the world better with our creativity. That is what binds us and that is our goal."

4.3.4 Equality

Lastly, equality came forward as one of the aspects which contributes to trust as a predictor for effective communication between managers and employees. When there was a gap or distance between managers and employees, the employees felt more left out as stated in the first quote by Phill. The second quote is about from Lisa about his/her manager Abby who included his/her employees very well during the B Corp implementation.

"Sometimes I had the feeling that she was really implementing it herself with the management. It sometimes felt like she was above us. And I think if she discussed more with us, the implementation would have gone smoother."

"During the process, we all felt very included in my opinion. The manager discussed multiple issues openly and as equals with us and included us in the decision-making process."

4.4 Motivation

Lastly, 'Motivation' is the final predictor. The driving force for the organisation to become a B Corp affects the cooperation of employees, but also the approach for managers to involve employees in the implementation. The following second-order themes emerged from the interviews; 'Helping the world' implies whether the manager, employees or organisation as a whole became a B Corp because of their motivation to do something for the world. 'Business opportunity' implies that the manager or employees had the goal to become a B Corp with the motivation to benefit commercially with help of the B Corp certificate. Finally, the 'Personal values' of managers and employees affected the communication during the B Corp implementation.

4.4.1 Helping the world

The interviews show that the managers actually had different approaches to including employees in the B Corp process. Multiple managers included employees in the process by explaining that B Corp is a great way to contribute to the world. The following quotes from Anne and Jeffrey confirm this:

"Well, because our company's first and most important goal is making an impact on the world, I knew our employees also think like that. So I already expected our employees to be excited with the news that we wanted to become a B Corp. And it takes some of the pressure off because you know they will cooperate."

"The communication for becoming a B Corp is way easier than any other organisational change, at least, at our organisation. Because B Corp contributes to improving the world and that's exactly what we are trying to do with our organisation. So I did not have any resistance, everyone thought it made perfect sense to become a B Corp."

4.4.2 Business opportunity

Managers also used other ways to motivate employees. These managers really emphasised the business opportunities to motivate their employees. The following quotes from Abby and Lois explain other ways how managers motivated employees during the B Corp implementation:

"As stated earlier, we also have employees who think; "I'm just doing my job, and that's it." That's also okay of course because we aren't an organisation which is born to make an impact on the world unlike a lot of other B Corps. But my approach with those employees was to explain that it also might bring us a lot of business because B Corp is also great for our image. That was my way to minimize the resistance from the employees."

"Well, I really looked at how I could motivate the employees. Because the employees do not care very much about the environment and climate etc. So I tried to convince them also that this certificate brings a lot of business opportunities for us. But of course I also highlighted that it's in first place a great licence because of all it's good causes."

4.4.3 Personal values

Lastly, the personal values of the managers and employees influence the communication during B Corp. What was most notable was that when either the manager or employee had no personal interest in the environment or sustainability, communication was more difficult. The following quotes from Chris and Lois elaborate on that:

"Because we are not a company like Tony Chocolonely's for instance... we do not have a workforce that are that passionate about sustainability. So we knew beforehand we might get more resistance from the employees, and that happened. Especially about the change to an electric car fleet. It took a lot of time to get that change through and it still is an ongoing discussion."

"Resistance took place mostly by the employees who are not personally interested in sustainability, I tried to think about solutions on how to keep them involved and interested in the B Corp process. But I also had to make choices and well it did happen that those employees are made clear by the management that this is the direction that the company goes now and if these employees don't like that, it might be better to not stay at the company."

5. Conclusion and discussion

In this research, we aimed to answer the research question: *"What are predictors for effective communication between managers and employees during CSR activity implementation?"*. Based on the interviews we found four main predictors for effective communication during CSR activity implementation.

First, organisational change emerged as a predictor. The culture prevailing within an organisation affects whether employees feel encouraged to collaborate with the B Corp plans of the management or not. Employees indicate that an open atmosphere, informal culture and the impact mission of their organisation makes them more inclined to interact with their managers.

Second, responsibility emerged from the interviews as a predictor. We found that when organisations designate one or two managers to serve as B Corp leaders, and that person is also ultimate accountable for the implementation, it contributes to effective communication as it provides clarity for employees on who to contact for B Corp matters. Furthermore, there is some pressure on the B Corp leaders to maintain making improvements. As a result, they are more likely to schedule meetings and solicit assistance from their employees, aimed at obtaining the B Corp certificate.

The third predictor that emerged from the interviews is trust. When employees feel they can trust their manager, they feel more inclined to share stories, and to be more open and honest themselves. Besides, it also gives employees more confidence to take initiatives beneficial for the B Corp process.

The fourth predictor that recurred was motivation. The driving force and reason for organisations to become a B Corp organisation, affects the cooperation of the employees. It emerged that when employees do not agree with the motivation of the organisation to become a B Corp, this more likely manifest itself in employee resistance, which impairs the communication.

Based on these four predictors, the original Change Communication model by Husain (2013) is adapted to the CSR Change Communication model (see figure 3).

5.1 Theoretical implications

Figure 3 presents the CSR change communication model which is adapted from the original Change Communication model by Husain (2013). This model presents the predictors that have emerged from the interviews that have a positive impact on the effective communication during CSR activity implementation. The variables of Husain's Change Communication model (2013) (community spirit, tackle queries, employee commitment, employee participation, add feedback, lesser uncertainty and job security) emphasise on how an organisation achieves effective communication during Change. We propose that trust, organisational culture, responsibility and motivation are the predictors for the original variables of Husain's Change Communication model. The predictors can be seen as conditions that should be applied to reach the original variables of the Change Communication model of Husain (2013).



Figure 3: CSR Change Communication model

Since the original Change Communication model of Husain (2013) is focused on organisational change but not specifically CSR change, this research focused solely on CSR change and therefore expanded this model with four new predictors in the context of CSR. These four predictors can be seen as a foundation to the other variables that eventually contribute to effective communication during CSR activity implementation.

Furthermore, it is possible that Beer and Nohria's Theory E and O (2000), which originally is applied to organisational change in general, also applies for the specific case of a CSR change. This has not been found or studied 'hardly' in this research, but it is possible that the perspective with which managers approach B Corp influences the communication strategy they exploit. The insinuation is that the different motives for organisations to become a B Corp also affect the communication approach for implementing B Corp where the Theory E approach results in an approach which is managed mostly top-down and where less input of the employees is requested. On the other hand the Theory O approach might result in a "softer" way of communicating where also bottom-up initiatives from the employees are more requested. Thus, we conclude that the motive of organisations for CSR change might have an impact on the chosen communication approach by managers towards employees.

5.2 Practical implications

It is important to gain insights in how effective communication takes place to implement CSR activities as the popularity of CSR in academia and practice is growing substantially. So, it is expected that CSR will increasingly be implemented and used by organisations. As a result, this research will provide valuable insights to, for instance, managers and directors of public or private organisations.

The findings of this research can be important and can significantly increase the chance of succeeding the implementation of B Corp or other CSR activities. Communication is vital to the effective implementation of CSR changes. Trust, organisational culture, responsibility and motivation came forward as predictors for effective communication during CSR activity implementation. To create a feeling of trust, involving the employees strengthens the shared ownership feeling which contributes to a better communication. In addition, it is also recommended to give employees the feeling that everyone is equal to each other. This builds trust and positively affects the communication. Lastly, it is recommended for the management to lead by example. By giving the right example trust and a better image is build, this will encourage employees to be more willing to cooperate with the plans of the management.

To respond to the predictor organisational culture, managers or directors should be aware that an informal organisational culture contributes to effective communication between management and employees. If there is no/less hierarchy, short communication lines, and an open and transparent atmosphere, employees will feel more inclined to cooperate and communicate with their managers. To respond to the predictor responsibility, it emerged from the interviews that assigning one or two managers with ultimate responsibility for the implementation (so called "B Corp leaders), aligned with a clear time schedule and deadlines ensures that progress is being made. It became clear from the interviews that if you do not assign a person with ultimate responsibility, the B Corp implementation can easily end on a side-track and stop the process.

In this way, the chance of bad communication during the process of CSR activity implementation is reduced and ensures that the communication can only have a positive effects on the implementation of the CSR activities.

5.3 Limitations & future research

As all research, this study also has its limitations. First of all, we are aware that the size of an organisation and the type of organisation can play a major role in the communication approach during CSR activity implementation. This research did not include in the results that this can play a role. Future research could therefore investigate the predictors for effective communication during CSR change in one specific type/size of organisation. Furthermore, the number of participants compared to the entire population is small. Therefore, it is not possible to generalise findings to the total population. Future research could test the propositions made in this research using a large and representative sample in order to confirm, disprove, or modify claims made in this research. Besides, the used interview protocol for this research greatly influenced the results of this study. The interview protocol should have been less directive so that the participants might have raised other topics than the ones that have emerged in this case. This interview protocol could possibly have resulted in a higher chance of confirmation bias, since the researcher asked questions directly about the used communication approaches. Also social desirability bias could have emerged with the use of the interview protocol since the researcher asked questions about personal opinions from correspondents about subjects like sustainability. This could possibly change the correspondents' answer to a more desirable answer from a cultural perspective. Another limitation of this research is that the employees we interviewed did so because the managers introduced them to us. This affects the reliability of this research since it could be that managers selected employees who have a good relationship with the manager, or employees who are more positive about B Corp and its implementation. Furthermore, 10 managers and 7 employees have been interviewed. The absence of one or more employee interviews for each manager interview may give the impression where managers have performed better than is actually the case. Future research should interview (or survey) several employees for each manager to get a more accurate impression of the B Corp implementation and communication in practice. Furthermore, because the sampling for this study only included B Corp certified organisations, there may be different populations (using different criteria) that might also be considered to be such and who may have different motives. Finally, all participants involved (except one participant) are of Dutch nationality and located in the Netherlands, thus different outcomes could occur in a different setting or context, for instance because of cultural differences. Therefore, future research on the predictors of effective

communication during CSR change might focus on studying various national and global contexts to ascertain how culture influences communication. Furthermore, since the researcher knew some literature beforehand, confirmation bias may be present since the coding of the interview was done by one researcher (Gioia et al., 2012). A final proposal for future research is to study the effect of the motive for organisations to conduct a CSR change might have an impact on the chosen communication approach by managers towards employees. The insinuation is that the different motives for organisations to become a B Corp also affect the communication approach for implementing B Corp where the Theory E approach results in an approach which is managed mostly top-down and where less input of the employees is requested. On the other hand the Theory O approach might result in a "softer" way of communicating where also bottom-up initiatives from the employees are more requested. In general this study has the necessary limitations that could have been better, especially in the area of research methodology and strategy.

5.4 Conclusion

This research focused on discovering predictors for effective communication between managers and employees during CSR activity implementation. The results from the interviews show that there are four predictors for effective communication during CSR: 'Organisational Culture', 'Responsibility', 'Trust', and 'Motivation'. During this research a proposition is made to extend the Change Communication Model (Husain, 2013) as a framework to understand these four underlying predictors for effective communication. We propose an adapted version of the original Change Communication model by Husain (2013) with a CSR Communication model that specifically applies to CSR specific effective communication between managers and employees. Furthermore, an insinuation is made that Theory E and Theory O of Beer and Nohria (2000) is also applicable in the specific case of a CSR change within an organisation. This research insinuates that there are two motives for organisations to become a B Corp. The first motive for organisations is to actually improve the world by becoming a B Corp and to make an impact on the world. Organisations that chose this motive had a communication approach that tends more to a Theory O approach. The other motive for organisations to become a B Corp was focused on the commercial advantage that B Corp can offer. Organisations with this motive chose for a communication approach that tends more to Theory E. Future research could test this insinuation empirically.

Bibliography

Adams, A., & Cox, A. L. (2008). *Questionnaires, in-depth interviews and focus groups* (pp. 17-34). Cambridge University Press.

Albrecht, S. L., Bakker, A. B., Gruman, J. A., Macey, W. H., & Saks, A. M. (2015). Employee engagement, human resource management practices and competitive advantage: An integrated approach. In *Journal of Organizational Effectiveness* (Vol. 2, Issue 1, pp. 7–35). Emerald Group Holdings Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOEPP-08-2014-0042

Alhaddi, H. (2015). Tripple Bottom Line and Sustainability: A literature review. *Business and Management Studies*, 1(2), 6–10. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.11114/bms.v1i2.752

Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2004). On instrumental leadership: beyond transactions and transformations.

Asif, M., Searcy, C., Zutshi, A., & Fisscher, O. A. M. (2013). An integrated management systems approach to corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *56*, 7–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2011.10.034</u>

Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (2004). *Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire: MLQ; manual and sampler set*. Mind Garden.

Bamberger, P.A. (2018). AMD—Clarifying what we are about and where we are going. Academy of Management Discoveries, 4(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.5465/amd.2018.0003

Beer, M., & Nohria, N. (2000). Cracking the code of change. *HBR's 10 must reads on change*, 78(3), 133-141.

Bordia, P., Hunt, E., Paulsen, N., Tourish, D., & DiFonzo, N. (2004). Uncertainty during organizational change: Is it all about control? *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 13(3), 345–365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13594320444000128</u>

Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York: Harper & Row.

Buysse, K., & Verbeke, A. (2003). Proactive environmental strategies: A stakeholder management perspective. *Strategic Management Journal*, *24*(5), 453–470. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.299

Chammas, C. B., & Hernandez, J. M. da C. (2019). Comparing transformational and instrumental leadership: The influence of different leadership styles on individual employee and financial performance in Brazilian startups. *Innovation and Management Review*, *16*(2), 143–160. https://doi.org/10.1108/INMR-08-2018-0064

Chen, Y. S., & Chang, C. H. (2013). The Determinants of Green Product Development Performance: Green Dynamic Capabilities, Green Transformational Leadership, and Green Creativity. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *116*(1), 107–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1452-x

Chen, Y. S., Chang, C. H., & Lin, Y. H. (2014). Green transformational leadership and green performance: The mediation effects of green mindfulness and green self-efficacy. *Sustainability* (*Switzerland*), *6*(10), 6604–6621. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su6106604</u>

Clutterbuck, D., & Hirst, S. (2002). Leadership communication: A status report. *Journal of communication Management*, 6(4), 351-354.

Creyer, E. H., & Ross, W. T. (1997). The influence of firm behavior on purchase intention: do consumers really care about business ethics? *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, *14*(6), 421–434.

Dahlsrud, A. (2008). How corporate social responsibility is defined: An analysis of 37 definitions. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 15(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.132</u>

Denscombe, M. (2010). The Good Research Guide: for small-scale social research projects (4th ed.). Open University Press.

Dhanesh, G. S. (2014). CSR as Organization-Employee Relationship Management Strategy: A Case Study of Socially Responsible Information Technology Companies in India. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 28(1), 130–149. https://doi.org/10.1177/0893318913517238

DiFonzo, N., & Bordia, P. (1998). A tale of two corporations: managing uncertainty during organizational change. *Human Resource Management*, *37*(3 & 4), 295–303.

Dutton, J. E., Ashford, S. J., O'neill, R. M., & Lawrenge, K. A. (2001). Moves That Matter: Issue Selling And Organizational Change. [®] Academy of Management Journal, 44(4), 716–736.

Elkington, J. (2018). 25 Years ago I coined the phrase "Triple Bottom Line." Here's why it's time to rethink it. 1–8.

Fombrun, C., & Shanley, M. (1990). What's In A Name? Reputation Building And Corporate Strategy. *Academy of Management Fou*, 33(2), 33–38.

Gibson, C., Wang, H., & Zander, U. (2020). Editors' comments: Is research on corporate social responsibility undertheorized? In *Academy of Management Review* (Vol. 45, Issue 1, pp. 1–6). Academy of Management. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2019.0450</u>

Gioia, D. A., Corley, K. G., & Hamilton, A. L. (2013). Seeking qualitative rigor in inductive research: Notes on the Gioia methodology. Organizational Research Methods, 16(1), 15–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428112452151

Hansma, L., & Elving, W. J. L. (2008). *Leading organizational change; The role of top management and supervisors in communicating organizational change*. <u>www.communicatingchange.nl</u>

Herold, D. M., Fedor, D. B., & Caldwell, S. D. (2007). *Beyond change management: A multilevel investigation of contextual and personal influences on employees' commitment to change. Journal of Applied Psychology, 92(4), 942–951.* doi:10.1037/0021-9010.92.4.942

Holt, D. T., Armenakis, A. A., Feild, H. S., & Harris, S. G. (2007). Readiness for organizational change: The systematic development of a scale. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *43*(2), 232–255. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886306295295

Holten, A. L., & Brenner, S. O. (2015). Leadership style and the process of organizational change. *Leadership and Organization Development Journal*, *36*(1), 2–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2012-0155</u>

Husain, Z. (2013). Effective communication brings successful organizational change. *The Business & Management Review*, *3*(2), 43.

Hwang, S. (2008). Utilizing qualitative data analysis software: A review of Atlas. ti. *Social Science Computer Review*, *26*(4), 519-527.

Jamali, D., & Mirshak, R. (2007). Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR): Theory and practice in a developing country context. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 72(3), 243–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-006-9168-4</u>

Jaskyte, K. (2004). Transformational leadership, organizational culture, and innovativeness in nonprofit organizations. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, *15*(2), 153-168.

Jiang, H., & Men, R. L. (2017). Creating an Engaged Workforce: The Impact of Authentic Leadership, Transparent Organizational Communication, and Work-Life Enrichment. *Communication Research*, 44(2), 225–243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215613137</u>

Johnson, J. R., Bernhagen, M. J., Miller, V., & Allen, M. (1996). The role of communication in managing reductions in work force.

Judge, T. A., & Piccol, R. F. (2004). Transformational and transactional leadership: A meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(5), 755–768. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.5.755</u>

Klimoski, R. J., & Hayes, N. J. (1980). Leader Behavior and Subordinate Motivation. *Personnel* psychology, 33(3), 543-555.

- Koys, D. J. (2001). The effects of employee satisfaction, organizational citizenship behavior, and turnover on organizational effectiveness: a unit-level, longitudinal study. *Personnel Psychology*, 54, 101–114.
- Kura, K. M. (2016). Linking Environmentally Specific Transformational Leadership and Environmental Concern to Green Behaviour at Work. *Global Business Review*, 17, 1S-14S. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150916631069
- Laroche, M., Bank, R., Molson, J., Bergeron, J., & Barbaro-Forleo, G. (2001). Targeting consumers who are willing to pay more for environmentally friendly products. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, *18*(6), 503–520. http://www.emerald-library.com/ft
- Lindgreen, A., Swaen, V., & Maon, F. (2009). Introduction: Corporate social responsibility implementation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 85(SUPPL. 2), 251–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-008-9732-1
- Logan, M. S., & Ganster, D. C. (2007). The effects of empowerment on attitudes and performance: The role of social support and empowerment beliefs. *Journal of Management Studies*, 44(8), 1523–1550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2007.00711.x</u>
- Mathieu, J. E. (2016). The problem with [in] management theory. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 37(8), 1132–1141. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2114
- March, J. G. (1991). Exploration and exploitation in organizational learning. *Organization* science, 2(1), 71-87.
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Onkila, T., & Sarna, B. (2022). A systematic literature review on employee relations with CSR: State of art and future research agenda. In *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management* (Vol. 29, Issue 2, pp. 435–447). John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.2210
- Oreg, S., Bartunek, J., Lee, G., & Do, B. (2018). An effect-based model of recipients' responses to organizational change events. *Academy of Management Review*, 1–59.
- Osagie, E. R., Wesselink, R., Blok, V., Lans, T., & Mulder, M. (2016). Individual Competencies for Corporate Social Responsibility: A Literature and Practice Perspective. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *135*(2), 233–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-014-2469-0
- Pekovic, S., & Vogt, S. (2021). The fit between corporate social responsibility and corporate governance: the impact on a firm's financial performance. *Review of Managerial Science*, *15*(4), 1095–1125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-020-00389-x
- Pollack, J. M., Garcia, R., Michaelis, T. L., Hanson, S., Carr, J. C., & Sheats, L. (2021). Pursuing B Corp Certification: Exploring Firms' Entrepreneurial Orientation and Prosocial Motivation . Academy of Management Discoveries, 7(2), 294–316. https://doi.org/10.5465/amd.2019.0083
- Reichers, A. E., Wanous, P., & Austin, T. (1997). Understanding and managing cynicism about organizational change. In *I Academy of Management Executive* (Vol. 11, Issue 1).
- Robertson, J. L., & Barling, J. (2013). Greening organizations through leaders' influence on employees' pro-environmental behaviors. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 34(2), 176–194. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.1820
- Sánchez-Infante Hernández, J. P., Yañez-Araque, B., & Moreno-García, J. (2020). Moderating effect of firm size on the influence of corporate social responsibility in the economic performance of micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2019.119774
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2009). Research methods for business students (5th ed.). Harlow, England: Financial Times/Prentice Hall.

- Smit, B., & Scherman, V. (2021). Computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software for scoping reviews: A case of ATLAS. ti. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 16094069211019140.
- Schulz-Knappe, C., Koch, T., & Beckert, J. (2019). The importance of communicating change: Identifying predictors for support and resistance toward organizational change processes. *Corporate Communications*, 24(4), 670–685. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-04-2019-0039
- Schweiger, D. M., & Denisi, A. S. (1991). Communication with Employees following a Merger: A Longitudinal Field Experiment. In *Source: The Academy of Management Journal* (Vol. 34, Issue 1).
- Singh, S. K., Giudice, M. del, Chierici, R., & Graziano, D. (2020). Green innovation and environmental performance: The role of green transformational leadership and green human resource management. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2019.119762
- Škare, M., & Golja, T. (2014). The impact of government CSR supporting policies on economic growth. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, *36*(3), 562–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpolmod.2014.01.008
- Stanley, D. J., Meyer, J. P., & Topolnytsky, L. (2005). Employee cynicism and resistance to organizational change. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 19(4), 429–459. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-005-4518-2
- Terry, D. J., Callan, V. J., & Sartori, G. (1996). Employee Adjustment To An Organizational Merger: Stress, Coping And Intergroup Differences. In *Stress Medicine*. *VOL* (Vol. 12).
- Ton, Z., & Huckman, R. S. (2008). Managing the impact of employee turnover on performance: The role of process conformance. *Organization Science*, *19*(1), 56–68. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1070.0294
- Torugsa, N. A., O'Donohue, W., & Hecker, R. (2013). Proactive CSR: An Empirical Analysis of the Role of its Economic, Social and Environmental Dimensions on the Association between Capabilities and Performance. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *115*(2), 383–402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1405-4
- Wang, X., Zhou, K., & Liu, W. (2018). Value congruence: A study of green transformational leadership and employee green behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9(OCT). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01946
- Wang, Z., & Sarkis, J. (2017). Corporate social responsibility governance, outcomes, and financial performance. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *162*, 1607–1616. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.jclepro.2017.06.142
- Wigley, S. (2008). Gauging consumers' responses to CSR activities: Does increased awareness make cents? *Public Relations Review*, *34*(3), 306–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2008.03.034

Appendix

Appendix I

Interview Protocol (Owner/Manager)

1. Introduction

- Introduction (Study, career, hobbies of participants etc.)
- Explanation of the interview purposes.
- How would you describe the culture within the organisation?
- How did you come into contact with (accountancy firm)?
- How did you come into contact with B Corp?
- What was your first reaction to B Corp? Why?
- Why did you choose B Corp eventually? Why no other CSR certificates?

2. B Corp implementation

- Can you tell me about the B Corp implementation?
- How did you start with B Corp?
- How did you introduce it into your own organisation?
- How do you think employees reacted to your introduction?
- How did you deal with the reactions of the employees?
- What problems did you encounter with implementing B Corp/CSR within the organisation?
- How did you tackle these problems?

3. Communication/Interaction

- How did you communicate the idea of implementing B Corp to the employees?
- How did you think your employees reacted to this? Was this what you expected?
- Did you have a plan on how you would interact with the employees during and about the B Corp implementation?
- If yes: Looking back; did you stick to the plan or did you change the plan? What did you change?
- If no: Looking back; if you had to start over, would you have a plan for interaction with employees about B Corp implementation?
- How did you keep the employees involved in the process?
- Did you notice what worked for keeping employees involved and what did not work?

4. Closing

- Is there anything I may not have asked you, that you think is of importance for the research or would you just like to add something to our conversation?

Interview Protocol (Employees)

1. Introduction

- Introduction (study, career hobbies of the participants etc.)
- Explanation of the interview purposes.
- How would you describe the culture within the organisation?
- What is your opinion about CSR?
- Do you think it is important/not important, why?
- What was your first reaction to B Corp? Why?

2. B Corp implementation

- Can you tell me about the B Corp implementation within the organisation? Which steps took place?
- How did you think the implementation went? Did it go well?
- How did (Manager/owner) introduce B Corp to you and your colleagues?
- What was your reaction? Why?
- Did you encounter problems during the implementation of B Corp?
- How did you deal overall with the implementation of B Corp?

3. Communication/interaction

- What did you think about the communication of (manager) during the B Corp process?
- Did you have the feeling you were involved in the B Corp process?
- Did you feel you were encouraged to participate in the B Corp process?
- Was it clear to you what B Corp was and how it would affect the organisation or your personal job?
- What could the manager have done to implement B Corp more smoothly (if possible)?
- If looking back; would you have done anything differently if the B Corp implementation had to start over again?

4. Closing

- Is there anything I may not have asked you, that you think is of importance for the research or would you just like to add something to our conversation?